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1. Name of Property

historic name Salt Lake City Northwest Historic District_____________________________ 

other name/site number Guadalupe neighborhood. Fairpark neighborhood________________

2. Location

street & town Salt Lake City 

city or town Utah

D not for publication 

D vicinity

state Utah code UT county Salt Lake code 035 zip code 84116

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended, I hereby certify that this ^ nomination 
D request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register 
of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the 
property £3 meets D does not meet the National Register criteria. I recommend that this property be considered significant 
D nationally £j] statewide El locally^ Q Safe continuation sheet for additional comments.)

.^A ^" / /L^J^T~~________
Signature of certifying official/Title

Utah Division of State History. Office of Historic Preservation 
State or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property D meets 
comments.)

does not meet the National Register criteria. ( D See continuation sheet for additional

Signature of certifying official/Title Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

4. National Park Service Certification
I hereby cenify that the property is:

M entered in the National Register. 
D See continuation sheet. 

D determined eligible for the
National Register

D See continuation sheet. 
D determined not eligible for the

National Register. 
D removed from the National

Register. 
D other, (explain:) _________

Date of Action



Salt Lake City Northwest Historic District 
Name of Property

5. Classification 
Ownership of Property
(check as many boxes as apply)

D public-local 

13 private 

D public-State 

d public-Federal

Category of Property
(check only one box)

EX] district 

D building(s) 

d site 

d structure 

d object

Salt Lake City. Salt Lake County. Utah 
City, County and State

Number of Resources within Property
(Do not include previously listed resources in the count.)

Contributing 

1150

1150

Noncontributing

339_____ buildings 

__________ sites 

__________ structures 

__________ objects 

Total339

Name of related multiple property listing
(Enter "N/A" if property is not part of a multiple property listing.)

N/A

Number of contributing resources previously listed 
in the National Register

6, Fian^tiorV^ 
Historic Function
(Enter categories from instructions)

DOMESTIC/single dwelling __

DQMESTIC/multiple dwelling

DOMESTIC/hotel

CQMMERCIAL/business

COMMERCIAL/specialty store

CQMMERCIAL/other

RELIGION/religious facility

EDUCATION/library

Current Function
(Enter categories from instructions)

DOMESTIC/single dwelling______

DOMESTIC/multiple dwelling 

DOMESTIC/hotel____________

COMMERCIAL/business________

COMMERCIAL/specialty store 

"cOMMERCIAL/other 

RELIGION/religious facility 

SOCIAL/civic

7, Description '.'•: •'•'•' ' : : .: 
Architectural Classification
(Enter categories from instructions)

MID-19  CENTURY

LATE VICTORIAN

LATE 19TH AND 20TH CENTURY REVIVALS __________

LATE 19TH AND EARLY 20  CENTURY AMERICAN MOVEMENTS 

OTHER: World War II and Post-World War II Era

Materials
(Enter categories from instructions)

foundation 
walls

roof 
other

STONE. CONCRETE

BRICK, WOOD, STUCCO, ADOBE,

VENEER. CONCRETE BLOCK 

ASPHALT, WOOD

Narrative Description
(Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)

]See continuation sheet(s) for Section No. 7



Salt Lake City Northwest Historic District 
Name of Property

Salt Lake City. Salt Lake County. Utah 
City, County and State

8. Description
Applicable National Register Criteria
(Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property 

for National Register listing.)

[3 A Property is associated with events that have made 
a significant contribution to the broad patterns of 
our history.

D B Property is associated with the lives of persons 
significant in our past.

13 C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics 
of a type, period, or method of construction or 
represents the work of a master, or possesses 
high artistic values, or represents a significant and

distinguishable entity whose components lack
individual distinction.

D D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, 
information important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mark "x" in all the boxes that apply.)

Property is:

D A owned by a religious institution or used for 
religious purposes.

D B removed from its original location.

D C a birthplace or grave.

D D a cemetery.

D E a reconstructed building, object, or structure.

D F a commemorative property.

D G less than 50 years of age or achieved significance 
within the past 50 years.

Narrative Statement of Significance
(Explain the significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)

Areas of Significance
(enter categories from instructions)

ARCHITECTURE

COMMERCE

COMMUNITY PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT 

ETHNIC HERITAGE_______________

RELIGION_______________________

SOCIAL HISTORY_________________ 

TRANSPORTATION_______________

Period of Significance
1850s-1950

Significant Dates
N/A_______

Significant Persons
(Complete if Criterion B is marked above)

N/A__________________

Cultural Affiliation
N/A

Architect/Builder
Various, mostly unknown

9. Major Bibliographical References 
Bibliography
(Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form on one or more continuation sheets.

]See continuation sheet(s) for Section No. 8

Previous documentation on file (IMPS):

D preliminary determination of individual listing (36
CFR 67) has been requested 

D previously listed in the National Register 
D previously determined eligible by the National

Register
D designated a National Historic Landmark 
D recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey
# ________________ 
D recorded by Historic American Engineering
Record # _____________

Primary location of additional data:

E3 State Historic Preservation Office
D Other State agency
D Federal agency
03 Local government
D University
D Other Name of repository:

Utah State Historical Society and Salt Lake City

CE] See continuation sheet(s) for Section No. 9



Salt Lake City Northwest Historic District_____ 
Name of Property

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property approximately 280 acres__________

UTM References
(Place additional boundaries of the property on a continuation sheet.)

11/2 4/2/2/2/0/0 4/5/1/4/8/0/0 
Zone Easting Northing

31/2 4/2/2/2/0/0 4/5/1/4/0/8/0 
Zone Easting Northing

Verbal Boundary Description
(Describe the boundaries of the property.)

Salt Lake City. Salt Lake County, Utah 
City, County and State

21/2 4/2/3/6/2/0 4/5/1/4/8/0/0
Zone Easting Northing

41/2 4/2/2/4/4/0 4/5/1/4/0/8/0
Zone Easting Northing

Beginning at the centerline of the intersection of 1100 West and 600 North; thence east along 600 North to 500 West 
(excluding properties east of railroad tracks) thence south to North Temple Street; thence west along North Temple to 
1000 West; thence north to 300 North; thence west to 1100 West; thence north to the beginning. Also known as Plat A, 
Blocks 99-100, 117-118 and 135; and Plat C, Blocks 61-64, 69-77, 80-89. Also known by various subdivision names.

Property Tax No. Various

Boundary Justification
(Explain why the boundaries were selected.)
The boundaries enclose the most intact concentration of buildings satisfying the criteria under the areas of significance for 
the district. Overall, the boundary streets form logical boundaries between neighboring areas with fewer historic 
resources. (See Section 7 for a detailed description of the boundary streets.)

QSee continuation sheet(s) for Section No. 101 liForm Prepared By "• '.' .•"'"';•'•"". . ,. . "( V'"' ; "N ; •>•;.- ••• ! --.;-vir--:^. :.•-••• rv'-v^v; "•?••:•??J- •>?• f-c-•':' •••-? " 

name/title Korral Broschinsky, Preservation-Documentation Resource_____________________
organization Salt Lake City Corporation date January 19, 2001
street & numberP.O. Box 58766

city or town Salt Lake City

telephone (801)581-1497 

state UT zip code 84158

Additional Documentation
Submit the following items with the completed form:

Continuation Sheets
Maps A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's location.

A Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources. 
Photographs: Representative black and white photographs of the property. 
Additional items: (Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items)

Property teier : .•/•.;-;' \.; ': -^ ••-'. '.- >:• /;•::v--,. .•' : , •;. •: ^- -^- ••••;.: ;:; • •?'•• \ ; ; . ;• •>•, :•:•• •. iy^\ ; :&f 
name/title District Nomination - multiple owners________________________________________________

street & number N/A_____ 

city or town Salt Lake City

telephone N/A______________

state UT zip code 84116

Paperwork Reduction Act Statement: This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic Places to nominate 
properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings. Response to this request is required to obtain a 
benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C. 470 etseq.).

Estimated Burden Statement: Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 18.1 hours per response including time for reviewing 
instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form. Direct comments regarding this burden estimate or any aspect of 
this form to the Chief, Administrative Services Division, National Park Service, P.O. Box 37127, Washington, DC 20013-7127; and the Office of 
Management and Budget, Paperwork Reductions Projects (1024-0018), Washington, DC 20503.
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Narrative Description

The Salt Lake City Northwest Historic District is a 28-square-block (280-acre) residential neighborhood 
developed between the 1850s and the 1950s. The roughly rectangular-shaped district includes 1,489 
buildings, of which 1150 (77 percent) contribute to the historic character of the neighborhood. There are 339 
(23 per cent) total noncontributing buildings. Of the 248 non-contributing primary buildings, 129 are altered 
historic buildings and 119 are considered out-of-period [See summary statistics at the end of Section 7]. 
Ninety percent of the contributing buildings are single-family dwellings dating from the mid-1850s to 1950. Six 
percent of contributing buildings are duplexes, mostly built between the 1890s and 1950. The housing stock 
also includes several apartment buildings and residential courts. Approximately half of the contributing 
commercial buildings are found along North Temple. The others are small commercial blocks (often combined 
with residential space) scattered throughout the neighborhood. Also included among the contributing buildings 
are four religious facilities and one former library. The district lies just a few blocks north and west of Salt Lake 
City's downtown, and is separated from the central business district by several railroad lines near the eastern 
boundary of 500 West. At the western boundary is the Utah State Fairpark. The district's north and south 
boundaries are two major thoroughfares, 600 North and North Temple. 1

Development Patterns

The district retains the distinct feel of the original city plat devised by Brigham Young in 1847:114 ten-acre 
blocks divided into eight lots with streets eight rods (128 feet) wide.2 The Salt Lake City Northwest Historic 
District includes a small section of the original Plat A located between 500 West and 600 West. The rest of the 
district is within the slightly later Plat C. Originally, each one and one-quarter acre lot was designed for one 
single-family dwelling set twenty feet back from the street with space for outbuildings and garden plots in the 
rear. The imprint of this original development pattern is found primarily in the eastern half of the district (500 
West to 800 West) where the earliest homes are located. Many of the oldest houses are located at the corners 
of the blocks. In the eastern half of the district, infill housing ranges from Victorian cottages to brick 
bungalows. Several of the blocks include alleys or residential courts extended into the inner blocks with 
housing built around the turn of the century.

Remnants of pioneer block-and-lot farmsteads and residential courts are also found in the western half of the 
district, however the dominant development pattern found here is the turn-of-the-century subdivision plat

1 All numbered streets in the district were renumbered in 1972. The original numbering system was based on the zero-numbered 
"Temple" streets bordering Temple Square in downtown Salt Lake City. North Temple, an original zero street, was followed by 1 st 
North, 2nd North, 3rd North and so on. Similar numbering came from West Temple. Address numbers were based on the origin point at 
the intersection of South Temple and Main Street (East Temple). This resulted in some confusion between street numbers north and 
west of the origin, and numbers to the south and east. For example, the street just east of 606 North Temple would be 5th West. In 
1972 North and West Temple streets were renumbered 100 North and 100 West. First North became 200 North, 5th West became 600 
West, etc. The older numbering system is found on all historic documents used in researching this nomination; however, within the 
nomination all buildings are designated by their current addresses.
2 Edward W. Tullidge, The History of Salt Lake City and Its Founders, (Salt Lake City, Utah: Edward W. Tullidge, Publisher and 
Proprietor, 1880), 47. This concept was in turn based on the "City of Zion" plat originated by LDS Church founder Joseph Smith for 
laying out the city of Nauvoo, Illinois.
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super-imposed over the original block and lot. Between 1888 and 1903, ten subdivisions were platted within 
the Salt Lake City Northwest Historic District. The subdivisions range in size from 2.5 acres (one quarter of a 
block) to ten acres (an entire block). Within the larger subdivisions, streets and avenues (usually 66' wide) 
bisected the inner blocks. Lots were narrow (25' x 140' on average) and usually had alley access in the rear. 
With very few exceptions, the alleys were vacated in the first half of the twentieth century. While typical of the 
period, actual land use in these subdivisions differed from the intent of the original plats. In order to have a 
wider parcel, many homebuilders bought more than one lot, and actual construction occurred slowly with 
several subdivisions not completely developed until the late 1940s. About forty-five percent of housing stock 
within the western half of the district is made up of single-family dwellings built by individual landowners, with 
approximately thirty-five percent developed by builders in small tracts of three to five houses. Even the 
fourteen bungalows in the Langston Park Subdivision (built in 1918) or the post-World-War-ll cottages along 
1100 West do not constitute large-scale development, especially compared with contemporaneous 
subdivisions in other parts of Salt Lake City.

Boundary Description

On nearly all sides, the Salt Lake City Northwest Historic District differs noticeably from the neighboring areas. 
At the eastern edge, running parallel to 500 West are six to ten railroad tracks on which an estimated eighty 
trains run in a single day. Although the amount of train traffic is down from the mid-twentieth century when 
several hundred trains a day ran on eighteen to twenty-two lines of rail, the tracks were historically and 
continue to be a significant factor of the northwest neighborhood's isolation from downtown. Proximity to the 
tracks was also a factor in some commercial and light-industrial encroachment into the neighborhood near 500 
West, these properties include both historic and non-historic buildings [Photograph 1].

Another boundary street that has changed dramatically over the years is North Temple. Once part of the "Old 
Territorial Road," for many years North Temple was a dirt road with the open City Creek running west to one of 
the few vehicular bridges over the Jordan River at approximately 1300 West. By the early 1900s, North 
Temple had both large and small residences along both sides as well as a few businesses. A streetcar line 
went along the street and City Creek had been taken partially underground. In the early 1930s, a concrete 
viaduct was built between 400 West and 600 West to carry automobile traffic over the tracks. Also in 1930 the 
Woodward Airfield at 2200 West was renamed the Salt Lake City Municipal Airport with North Temple the main 
corridor to the airport. During the 1930s through the 1950s, North Temple gradually changed from a 
residential/semi-agricultural neighborhood to a commercial strip. After 1968, when the municipal airport 
became the Salt Lake International Airport, the historic buildings were almost completely replaced by hotels, 
restaurants, and strip malls. Remarkably, the north side of North Temple between 600 West and 800 West still 
has a number of historic buildings making it the best boundary street for the district despite heavy commercial 
development further east [Photographs 2 & 3]. No historic buildings currently exist on the south side of North 
Temple between 500 West and 1000 West, The area to the south has a number of significant historic 
buildings, however the concentration is much lower than in the Salt Lake City Northwest District.

The southern half of the west boundary of the district is L-shaped and borders the Utah State Fair Grounds, 
recently renamed the Utah State Fairpark. The site of the fair includes approximately fifty acres and is located 
between 1000 West and 1200 West, and North Temple and 300 North. The site was listed on the National 
Register of Historic Places January 1, 1981 and includes about a dozen significant buildings constructed
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between 1902 and the 1920s [Photograph 4]. North of the fairpark, the boundary of the district is 1100 West. 
Differences between the neighborhoods on either side of 1100 West boundary are less distinct. Between 1100 
West and the Jordan River (near 1600 West), housing stock is similar to the Salt Lake City Northwest District, 
however the percentage of out-of-period structures is higher. While this neighborhood may be also eligible for 
the National Register, there is sufficient difference between the early small-scale subdivision development east 
of 1100 West and the mix of larger and later subdivision development in the west to justify the use of 1100 
West as a boundary street.

The north boundary is 600 North, a heavy-traffic corridor leading to the Interstate 15 on and off ramps near 500 
West, as well as a viaduct crossing the railroad tracks. North of 600 North is one of the largest subdivision 
developments in Salt Lake City, Rose Park. The Rose Park subdivision was first developed in 1946, and 
unlike earlier subdivisions, includes many curvilinear streets and cul-de-sacs that bear no relation to the 
original block development. Rose Park differs dramatically from the Salt Lake City Northwest District both in 
development patterns and housing stock, and may be eligible as a National Register district at some point in 
the future.

Streetscapes and Landscape

Streetscapes within the district include a mix of wide through streets and more intimate inner-block streets and 
residential courts. With the exception of some residential courts, one of which is not paved, all streets have 
sidewalks and most have curb and gutter. A stretch of 800 West between North Temple and 300 North has 
been altered by islands planted with grass and trees, dividing the wide street [Photograph 5]. Though intended 
as an urban design feature, the islands also serve as a traffic calming measure for the nearby elementary 
school. Within the district are blocks of contemporaneous tract housing [Photograph 6] and blocks where the 
streetscape presents a range of house types [Photograph 7]. With the exception of North Temple, commercial 
buildings are scattered throughout the district and small enough to be nearly indistinguishable from their 
residential neighbors [Photograph 8]. Institutional buildings are also scattered, and range from the small and 
domestic-looking to the relatively large scale [Photographs 9 & 10]. Traffic lights are found on the border 
streets of North Temple (at 600 West, 800 West, 900 West and 1000 West) and 600 North (at 900 West), and 
within the district at the intersection of 300 North and 900 West (the main north-south running corridor).

One of the most salient features of the neighborhood is the presence of Interstate 15 running north to south 
between 600 West and 700 West. The interstate divides the eastern third of the district from the western two- 
thirds. Before the construction of the interstate in the late 1950s, the area between 600 West and 700 West 
was similar to the neighboring streets. Elevated on a mound of dirt, the completion of Interstate 15 in 1957, 
became yet another barrier isolating Westside residents from Salt Lake City's downtown. Beginning in 1998, a 
massive reconstruction of Interstate 15 included the widening of the freeway, which resulted in the demolition 
of a number of historic structures on both sides and left a number of other properties very close to the freeway 
mound [Photograph 11]. Despite the fact that Interstate 15 can only be breached at North Temple, 600 North, 
and under an overpass at 300 North (200 North, 400 North and 500 North all dead-end at the freeway), the 
visually divided neighborhood remains a cohesive unit. Interstate 15 does not present a barrier to the district's 
inclusion on the National Register because the ties between the two sides of the district (architecturally, 
historically, and culturally) remain very strong [See Section 8].
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Landscaping within the district varies considerably and, for the most part, has been left to the discretion of 
individual property owners. The east side includes many very old shade trees, and in some cases, vacant lots 
where plants have been allowed to become overgrown. On the west side, there are blocks where shade trees 
have been planted in the strip between sidewalks and street, some dating from the original construction of the 
houses and planted by the early developers. Most houses have lawn and shrubs in front with a mix of lawn 
and garden plots in the rear. The irrigation ditches, part of the pioneer-era streetscape, were filled in years 
ago, and the only remnants may exist at the rear of the properties. There are a few extant historic fences in 
the district [Photograph 12], but most are chain link and wood or vinyl plank. Most of the institutional buildings 
have some landscaping, and there are two (recent) neighborhood pocket parks: Guadalupe Park at 500 North 
600 West, and Jackson Park, at 500 North and Grant Street.

Architectural Styles, Types and Materials by Period

Single Family Dwellings: Early Settlement Period. 185Qs-1879

There are 742 contributing single-family dwellings located within the district, only eleven of which have been 
identified as having been built before 1879. However, historical documents suggest the actual number is much 
higher. Unfortunately additions, alterations, and the general lack of documentation makes it difficult to come 
up with an exact number. 3 The eleven also include the district's two properties previously listed on the 
National Register: the Nelson Wheeler Whipple House at 564 West 400 North (built in 1854 and listed in 1979), 
and the Thomas & Mary Hepworth house at 725 West 200 North (built in 1877 and listed on April 21, 2000). 
The Whipple house is a two-story central passage house with classical symmetry and details. Like many 
homes of the period, the Whipple house was constructed of adobe brick (25,000 according to Whipple's 
journal) and covered with plaster [Photograph 13]. The Hepworth house is somewhat larger and constructed 
of soft-fired brick. This house is also a classical central passage house with Italianate detailing [Photograph 
14].

The Whipple and Hepworth houses represent the higher end architecture of the settlement period. The typical 
small home is represented by the example at 126 North 800 West. Built circa 1870, this house is a 540- 
square-foot hall-parlor with a frame addition. It is constructed of adobe brick covered with stucco on a stone 
foundation [Photograph 15]. A more unique example is what appears to be an unfinished Georgian-influenced 
single-cell house, at 423 North 600 West, probably built in 1868. This unusual house has a number of turn-of- 
the-century additions, however the main portion is adobe [Photograph 16]. Only a handful of early frame 
houses are extant in the neighborhood, and most have been substantially altered. No log dwellings were 
identified in the reconnaissance-level survey of the area, however it is possible existing log structures may 
have been incorporated into later additions and covered by a veneer. Most settlement-era homes have little 
stylistic detail other than classical symmetry. The most common house type from the era is the hall-parlor. 
Other types are represented by only one or two examples.

3 A study of Sanborn fire insurance maps indicates a large number of modest adobe, frame and log houses in the area by the 1880s. 
Later Sanborn maps show many of these were later enlarged (newer home built in front or on the side to make a cross wing). Currently 
many have plaster and veneers covering the historic materials. Tax cards also reveal a number of houses with adobe sections 
indicating they were built before brick was commonly available in Salt Lake City in the late 1860s.
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Single-family Dwellings: Victorian Urbanization. 1880-1910

Houses representing the types and styles of the Victorian era comprise 39 percent of the number of single- 
family dwellings, the largest percentage of associated housing stock in the district. 4 These houses are found 
throughout the district as distinct architectural entities, in tracts of two or three, and occasionally in a residential 
court setting [Photographs 17-19). Stylistically, a small percentage of these homes demonstrate the transition 
from earlier houses and possess Classical, Greek Revival or Italianate features. Examples range from early 
hall-parlors with added wings to late Victorians with Queen Anne-style towers [Photograph 20]. One 
interesting example of a transitional house spanning several decades is located at 344-346 North 600 West 
[Photograph 21]. This two-story house built in several phases between 1882 and 1954 has walls of adobe, 
stucco, brick, and frame. The stylistic elements of the house include Greek Revival cornice returns, Victorian 
details on the octagonal north wing, and Period Revival porch enclosures.

The vast majority of Victorian-era homes in the district demonstrate the asymmetrical floor plans favored in the 
late nineteenth century. The most common house type is the cross wing, and examples range from the simple 
to the elaborate [Photographs 22 & 12]. Of note are three unfinished cross wings and one rare double cross 
wing [Photograph 23]. The second largest number is represented by the central block with projecting bays 
house-type, examples of which are found throughout the district in a number of varieties from modest tract 
cottages to more distinctive homes [Photographs 18-19 & 24]. A small number of side-entry and rectangular- 
block Victorian houses are also in the district, as well as a number of hybrids that are difficult to classify 
[Photograph 25]. There are twelve shotgun houses [Photograph 26].5 The size of Victorian homes in the 
district range from the 500 square-foot shotguns to two-story 2,000 or 3,000 square-foot cross wings, with the 
average house around 1,000 square feet.

While many houses have distinctive stylistic elements (e.g. Greek Revival cornice returns and Neo-classical 
columns), the majority of Victorian houses in the district would be considered Victorian Eclectic. Typical 
decorative elements include shingled gable trim, lathe-turned columns, and corbelled brick work. 
Unfortunately, historic photographs indicated that many homes have lost original wood ornamentation, 
particularly porch details such as balustrades and "gingerbread" spindle work. While most houses in the 
district would not be considered ornate, even modest homes range from the plain to the relatively elaborate 
[Photographs 17-26].

The predominant material of the era was brick [Photographs 17-20 & 22-25]. The very earliest homes may 
have been built with soft-fired brick over an adobe lining, however the majority of homes appear to be 
constructed of fairly good quality brick. Wood, as a structural material, occurs less frequently than brick, and 
was mostly found on modest-sized homes with an occasional elaborate example [Photographs 11, 26-27]. 
The majority of wood homes were frame with drop-novelty siding, however few would be considered significant 
because of window changes and the subsequent use of various veneers [Photograph 28]. Of course, wood 
was used extensively for decorative elements, and stone was the material of choice for foundations.

4 The total number of Victorian era houses in the district is 390 of which only 324 are considered contributing. Many of the altered 
Victorian houses currently considered non-contributing have the potential to be restored at some future date.
5 Four of the shotguns identified are not traditional (i.e. they have the door on the side rather than in front), however these "modified" 
shotguns were tract housing built on narrow lots and were obviously not simply "unfinished" cross wings.
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Single-family Dwellings: Early Twentieth Century. 1910-1939

The dominant architectural style of the early twentieth century was the bungalow. Nineteen percent of 
contributing single-family houses in the district are bungalows in type and style. The bungalow was intended to 
be a comfortable, sheltering, low profile house. While early bungalows like the one at 578 North Dexter Street 
[Photograph 29] were built contemporaneously with Victorian houses, by 1915 the bungalow had become the 
everyman's house replacing the earlier Victorian cottages.6 Most of the district's bungalows are modest homes 
(as are Utah bungalows in general) with little decorative detail, however several in the district are distinctive. 
The Langton Park bungalows built in 1918 are a combination of Arts & Crafts and the California styles 
[Photograph 6]. Brick bungalows at 575 West 200 North and 251 North 700 West have a hint of Prairie School 
influence [Photographs 30-31]. A row of brick bungalows, also from 1924, on 500 North, includes one at 1043 
West with a distinctive porte-cochere [Photograph 32-33]. The description of bungalow as a type, as well as a 
style, fits most of the bungalows in the district. The houses usually have the narrow end to the street with a 
variety of roof styles (simple gable, hipped, and clipped gable), and a full or half-width porch. The few 
foursquare houses in the district are modest in size with bungalow influence and are not similar to the 
traditional two-story, upscale foursquares found in other parts of Salt Lake City. The most popular material for 
bungalows was brick, with wood and stucco used for decoration [Photographs 30-33]. Frame bungalows are 
also found throughout the district, though many have been altered [Photograph 28]. Stone was used as a 
foundation material in early bungalows, however after 1915, concrete was used increasingly. During the 
bungalow period, the use of concrete-as well as better drainage—increased the occurrence of fully excavated 
basements. The bungalow period also has examples of new materials such as striated brick and concrete 
block [Photograph 34]. There is even one brick bungalow with a volcanic rock veneer on its lower half 
[Photograph 35].

After World War I, the bungalow remained popular, but the Period Revival movement favored by veterans who 
had served in Europe was evident in the architecture of the 1920s in Utah. Several bungalows, built in 1926, 
along 1000 West near 400 North show some period revival details [Photograph 36]. Within the Salt Lake City 
Northwest Historic District, construction of residences slowed considerably between the late 1920s and the 
start of World War II. Period revival cottages account for only three percent of houses in the area, a 
percentage much lower than contemporaneous neighborhoods on Salt Lake City's east side. Among them are 
modest English period cottages like the one at 878 West 500 North, built in 1929, and four found on Chicago 
Street, built between 1928 and 1929 [Photographs 37 & 38].

Single-family Dwellings: World War II and Post-World War II Era. 1940-1950

Twenty-nine percent of single-family dwellings in the district were built during the 1940s. Surprisingly, a 
number of homes in the district were built in the early 1940s, although access to materials and labor was 
severely restricted. Two examples from 1941 represent the World War II Era. The house at 843 West 500

6Thomas Carter and Peter Goss, Utah's Historic Architecture, 1847-1940: a Guide, (Salt Lake City, Utah: University of Press, 1988), 
136.
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North is one of nine houses (some brick, some frame) built on the block, and typifies the minimal traditional 
house developed by Federal Housing Administration to promote home ownership during the depression. 7 The 
"minimal traditional" elements of 863 West 500 North are evident in its modest 865 square-foot (two-bedroom) 
footprint, and limited decorative brick details [Photograph 39]. A more unique example is found at 460 North 
Chicago Street, another small square, brick masonry house with corner metal casement windows giving it a 
more Modern appearance [Photograph 40].

The majority of construction occurred in the economic boom that followed World War II. Between 1945 and 
1950 nearly all the lots in the northwest corner of the district, many of which had remained undeveloped since 
first being subdivided in the late 1900s, were built upon. The largest tract of these houses was along 1100 
West, where a dozen frame houses were built in a row [Photograph 41]. The houses were small and square, 
patterned after the pre-war minimal traditional house, and many were slightly wider, precursors to the Ranch- 
style house that would dominate domestic architecture in the 1950s and 1960s. A handful can be classified as 
World War Il-Era Cape Cods, a type popular in the Eastern United States, but relatively rare in Utah 
[Photograph 42]. About eight percent of homes built in this period have attached garages, and most have 
some basement area.

The post-war period may have been the only building period in the district where frame and brick have nearly 
the same rate of use. The frame houses are covered with a variety of materials: shingles (wood and 
asbestos), siding (clapboard and drop-novelty), and some historic aluminum siding [Photograph 41]. Brick and 
striated brick were used extensively, both as a structural material and as a veneer over concrete block 
[Photograph 43]. Stylistic elements were limited to modest decorative brickwork and the occasional use of 
wood on a Federal or other style frame around the front door. A large variety of windows occur in the period 
including double-hung wood windows, metal casement multi-pane windows, and large picture windows.

Multiple-family Dwellings: Duplexes (Double Houses) & Apartment Buildings

Six percent of residences within the district are duplexes (also known historically as double houses), with 
another one percent being historic apartment buildings. Approximately half of the duplexes were built between 
1890 and 1910, and are found both along the main streets and in residential courts between 500 and 800 
West. Stylistically, these early duplexes come in two varieties: the urban model with a flat-roof and decorative 
brick parapets; and the more domestic-looking, hipped or gable roof structure [Photograph 44 & 45].8 Despite 
being rental units (or perhaps because they are rentals), these duplexes have survived relatively intact with 
only minor changes, such as the replacement of the classical porch columns with wrought iron. Brick masonry 
was used for most of these buildings, however there are a few frame examples such as the duplexes at Tuttle 
Court [Photograph 46]. The remaining half of the duplexes date from the bungalow era or the post-World War 
II period, and with few exceptions, are found in the western half of the district. Many, especially later, duplexes

7 Federal Housing Administration, Principles of Planning Small Houses, Technical Bulletin No. 4, Washington D.C.: U.S. Government 
Printing Office, 1936.
8The word duplex as used in the nomination refers primarily to the one-story, semi-detached buildings known historically as double 
houses. Carter and Goss classify the flat roof duplex as "Double House C" and the hipped/gabled roof version as "Double House A." 
Horizontally divided duplexes (called "Double House B") appear in the district only in the 1950s. See Carter and Goss, 74-79. It 
appears the majority of these duplexes were owned as a unit on a single parcel of land. Many of the oldest examples were occupied by 
their owners with relatives living in the adjoining unit.
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are found on corner lots as part of rental buffers for subdivision development. A few are frame-sided or stucco 
bungalows, including one Langdon Park triplex, but most are brick structures from the late 1940s [Photographs 
47-49].

There are six historic apartment blocks in the district. All are small with only four to six units, not big enough to 
be classified as walk-ups. The oldest is the four-unit block at 540 North 600 West, built in 1897 and later 
converted to commercial use. This building features decorative brickwork on the parapet and originally had a 
full-width porch and balcony [Photograph 50]. Not far from this building stand the most recent historic 
apartments, twin six-unit blocks at 545 and 555 West 500 North, built fifty-years later in 1947. The two-story 
Boyer Apartments, as they were known, were constructed of brick with pyramidal roofs and minimal traditional 
detailing [Photograph 51].

Commercial Buildings

Ironically, nearly one-third of contributing commercial buildings identified in the district historically combined 
residential space with commercial use. An interesting example is located at 613 West 200 North where a 1910 
frame shop was built in front of and connected to an 1871 adobe hall-parlor [Photograph 52]. In contrast, at 
776 West North Temple, the commercial block came first in 1888, followed by the six-room residence, in 1895, 
both with elaborate brick work [Photographs 2 & 53]. In other cases, the residence space is less obvious. The 
1905 commercial block at 246 North 600 West was built in front of an 1880 house [Photograph 8]. Also built in 
1905, the brick commercial building at 730 West 400 North was built with a second-floor family flat 
incorporated in the original design [Photograph 54].

One of the most significant and prominent commercial buildings is the Horsley Building located at 606 West 
North Temple and constructed in 1912. The Horsley Building resembles a small hotel court in the commercial 
style with retail space on the main floor and sixteen apartments on the second [Photograph 55]. Among the 
non-residential commercial buildings is the former LDS Church 22nd Ward Co-operative Store at 480 West 500 
North. The remainder of historic commercial buildings represents a miscellaneous mix of period and style. 
Two of the more significant examples are the auto garages built at 319 North 800 West in 1928, and the 
Romney Motor Lodge, built in the 1940s, one of the few remaining historic motel courts left in Salt Lake City 
[Photographs 56, 2 & 57].

Institutional Buildings

While the contributing institutional buildings in the Salt Lake City Northwest Historic District are few in number 
(five), they present an architecturally impressive group of historic resources. Four are ecclesiastical buildings 
originally associated with the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints (LDS or Mormon Church), and one is 
a former Salt Lake City branch library. The oldest is the 28th Ward Meetinghouse built in 1902 and located at 
750 West 400 North. The building is constructed of brick on a stone foundation in the Gothic Revival style. In 
1914, the building was enlarged to the rear with an unusual semi-circular addition that included an auditorium, 
amusement hall, and classrooms. Though no longer used as a church, the building retains a high degree of 
historic integrity [Photograph 58].
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The 34th Ward Meetinghouse at 131 North 900 West, built in 1921, is a brick Neo-Classical structure on a 
raised basement. The temple-front facade features six massive Doric columns supporting a pediment. This 
building has been modified somewhat over the years but still retains its historic character [Photograph 59]. 
The south wing of the 16th Ward Meetinghouse was built on the site of an earlier chapel destroyed by fire at 
129 North 600 West. The new chapel, constructed between 1929 and 1930, is based on a standard 
meetinghouse design nicknamed the "Colonel's Twins" because of the two projecting wings, one for the chapel 
and one for the amusement hall. 9 The 16th Ward building is a brick structure and incorporates Colonial Revival 
motifs such as keystone, round arches, and cornice returns [Photograph 10]. This building, used for many 
years as a Catholic community center, and currently a residence, is in excellent condition.

The Riverside Stake Center, the only meetinghouse within the district still used by the LDS Church, is located 
on the west side at 947 West 200 North. Constructed in 1952-1953, this building is an early example of post­ 
war modernism institutional architecture in Utah [Photograph 60]. The building is constructed of brick, stone 
veneer, and cast concrete. The main entrance is recessed under a swooping canopy. The building is in 
excellent condition and has had only minor alterations.

One of the most historically significant buildings is the Our Lady of Guadalupe Catholic Church located at 731 
West 300 North. However the building is non-contributing because a 1972 expansion has obscured the 
original chapel relocated to the area from an army base in Kearns in 1947 [Photograph 61]. Another significant 
building is the former Spencer Branch Library, located 776 West 200 North, was built in 1921. The library is T-­ 
shaped in plan and is constructed of striated brick. The broadside faces the street with a symmetrical facade. 
Classical and Colonial revival details are found in the concrete keystone and end stones of the round relieving 
arches, and in the Tuscan columns supporting a rounded pediment at the main entrance. The building is 
currently owned and maintained by the Free Church of Tonga and has seen little exterior alteration 
[Photograph 9].

Outbuildings

Though the Salt Lake City Northwest Historic District retains a semi-rural feel, the hundreds of coops and 
sheds once found in the rear of nearly every property have all but disappeared. With the possible exception of 
the circa 1880s stone granary in the rear of 165 North 900 West, extant outbuildings in the district are not 
individually significant [Photograph 62]. Garages, which began appearing in the district in the late 1910s, make 
up the vast majority of the 461 contributing outbuildings identified in the 1991 reconnaissance level survey of 
the area. These garages are mostly single-car, simple-gable frame structures that face the street [Photograph 
63]. The alleys platted by the turn-of-the-century subdivisions appear to have been vacated early (most in the 
first half of the century) and few garages were accessed from the alleys.

Summary

The contributing historic resources of the Salt Lake City Northwest District are numerous and varied, however 
historic integrity is high, and even altered historic homes for the most part retain their original scale and forms

9 Carter and Goss, 149.
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with the potential to have alterations reversed. Approximately fifteen percent of buildings, both residential and 
commercial, currently considered out-of-period were built in the 1950s, and will be eligible for the National 
Register within the decade. During the 1970s and 1980s, medium-density housing was encouraged in the 
area and a number of two and three story apartment complexes were built in the neighborhood on vacant land 
and in some cases on lots formerly occupied by historic buildings. In the 1990s, Salt Lake City has reversed 
this trend and is currently encouraging new construction on a more modest scale including nouveau 
Bungalows and neo-Victorian houses [Photographs 44 & 64]. This current trend may be important to the 
preservation of the neighborhood. The district's proximity to downtown and the Gateway Project (the original 
warehouse and train yard district just to the southeast, which is currently being redeveloped as a transportation 
hub and mixed-use district) makes it a likely target for commercial expansion and spillover development.
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Summary Statistics
(Based on a March 2000 update of the 1991 reconnaissance level survey)

Evaluation/Status
(1072 total Primary) 
(417 total Outbuildings) 
Total

Construction Dates
(contributing
buildings
only)

Original Use
(contributing
buildings
only)

Architectural Styles
(contributing 
buildings 
only)

Contributing 
77% (824 total) 
78% (326 total) 
77% (1150 total)

1850s-1870s 1880s
1% 4%

1910s 1920s 
11% 17%

Single Dwellings
90%

Commercial, Public &
3% 

Classical Picturesque
1% 3%

Non-contributing 
23% (248 total: 1 29 altered; 1 1 9 out-of-period) 
22% (91 total) 
23% (339 total)

1890s 1900s
5% 29% 

1930s 1940S-1950
3% 30%

Duplexes Apartment Buildings 
6% 1%

Religious Buildings

Victorian
39%

Bungalow 
23%

Period Revival World War II Era 
3% 29%

Modern 
1%

Other 
1%

Architectural Types
(contributing 
buildings 
only)

Settlement-Era Victorian 
3% 32%

WW H/Earlv Ranch 
29%

Bungalow 
19%

Period Revival 
2%

Double House/Duplexes 
6%

Apartments 
1%

Commercial/Public 
3%

Other 
5%

Construction Materials
(contributing
buildings
only)*

Adobe 
1%

Brick 
42%

Stone 
3%

Striated Brick 
17%

Stucco/Plaster 
10%

Concrete 
1%

Wood 
32%

Veneer 
30%

*Total exceeds 100 percent due to the number of buildings constructed with more than one 
material.
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Narrative Statement of Significance

The Salt Lake City Northwest District, a primarily residential neighborhood of 824 historic buildings, is both 
architecturally and historically significant in the history of Salt Lake City, Utah. While the historic housing stock, 
dating from the 1850s to 1950, is typical of neighborhoods in other parts of the city, the area's simultaneous 
proximity to and isolation from Salt Lake City's downtown reveals both a pattern of development and a cultural 
makeup of the community that is unique to this northwest portion of the city. The district is significant under 
Criterion A for its ties to the early settlement and later cultural diversification of Salt Lake City's population. 
Perhaps more than any other neighborhood in the city, the social, economic and cultural history of the district is 
tied to the railroad industry. The coming of the railroad and its dependant industries in the 1870s brought 
economic diversity to the northwest district, and gave its residents a measure of economic success while 
isolating them from the rest of Salt Lake's citizens. In the twentieth century, the district was part of the greater 
cultural and ethnic diversification of Salt Lake City. The district is also significant under Criterion C for the wide 
range of housing stock dating from the 1850s to 1950 existing in a cohesive neighborhood. Development 
patterns within the district illustrate a gradual shift from the semi-agricultural, block-and-lot, early settlement 
period to turn-of-the-century residential courts and streetcar subdivisions. The small percentage of commercial 
and institutional buildings in the district are also architecturally significant and include three former LDS Church 
buildings eligible under the Mormon Church Buildings in Utah MPS. The Salt Lake City Northwest District is a 
neighborhood of well-defined boundaries with 77 percent of the buildings being contributing.

The History of the Salt Lake City Northwest Historic District

Early Settlement Period. 1847-1869

On July 24, 1847, a small contingent of members of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints (LDS or 
Mormon Church) entered the Salt Lake Valley under the direction of Brigham Young. On August 2, 1847, a 
little more than a week later, Orson Pratt and Henry G. Sherwood began to survey what was then known as 
the City of Great Salt Lake. In less than a month, the survey of Plat A, consisting of 135 blocks, was 
completed. The land was divided into ten-acre blocks, each containing eight lots of one and one-quarter acres. 
Streets were 132 wide feet. Only one house could be constructed on each lot with a standard setback of 
twenty feet from the front of the property. The rear of the property was to be used for gardens and 
outbuildings. Farmland was provided in the outlying areas. Forty acres were set aside for the temple, and four 
other blocks were for public grounds to be laid out in various parts of the city. After the church officials 
selected lots for their personal use, the remainder of the land was divided by casting lots. Scarce resources 
such as timber and water were to be held in common with no private ownership. 10 Within two years, the 
population of Salt Lake City had grown to 6,000. Plat B was laid out in sixty-three blocks to the east in 1848, 
and in 1849, the eighty-four blocks of Plat C were surveyed on the west side. The Salt Lake City Northwest 
Historic District consists of five blocks along the western edge of Plat A and twenty-three blocks of Plat C.

' Tullidge, 46-47.
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In February of 1849, the city was divided into nineteen wards of the LDS Church and a bishop was selected to 
preside over each ward. 11 The northwest portion of the city was within the boundaries of the 16th ward (South 
Temple to 300 North, and 300 West to the Jordan River) and the 19th ward (a triangle-shaped area 300 North 
to Beck's Hot Springs [800 North], and 300 West [base of the foothills] to the Jordan River). 12 Though lots 
were allocated and the basic governing (church) hierarchy in place, early settlement proceeded slowly. Most 
of the earliest settlers spent their first few winters in crude log cabins, tents, or in wagon beds, in or near the 
fort (present day Pioneer Park at 300 South and 300 West). A few houses were built in the 16th Ward in 1848, 
but the church's official historian was "unable to find out positively whether any of the pioneers of Utah built 
houses or resided in the Nineteenth Ward prior to 1849, although it is possible that one of two families became 
settlers in 1848."13 By 1850 a number of settlers had moved to their lots and begun building permanent 
homes. Some of the houses may have been log (newly hewn or relocated from the fort site), but most were 
built of adobe (or mud-dried bricks). 14 An adobe pit was first established near the fort site in order to provide 
bricks for the fort wall, and later brick was available for home building.

The majority of these houses were single-story, one or two-room (single cell and hall-parlor) dwellings, which 
were plastered as soon as the owner had the resources. The Nelson Wheeler Whipple house, an eight room, 
two-story house built in 1854, was one of the few exceptions. Whipple, who immigrated to Utah in 1850, had 
various occupations (policeman, gunsmith, carpenter, cabinet maker and superintendent of the Municipal Bath 
House), but is best known for his lumber business and shingle mill. The house at 564 West 400 North (within 
the 19 Ward boundaries) was home to his entire family: himself, three wives and seventeen children. The 
house was listed on the National Register of Historic Places in 1979 (Photograph 13). 15

From the beginning, the west side of the city was less desirable for settlement than the east. Topographically, 
the northwest district is one of the lowest areas within the city limits and before the advent of drainage 
systems, was often covered with water. Some improvement came in 1856 when the three channels of City 
Creek were directed along North Temple to the Jordan River, and land west near the river was reclaimed. 
However, the poor-quality alkaline soil and brackish water of the Jordan River prevented extensive cultivation 
and the land was used mostly for pasturage. 16 An October 1852 census of members in the 19th Ward 
numbered 300 people in addition to about 100 children under the age of eight, however most of those lived 
east of 300 West in the Marmalade District. Four years later, Frederick Kesler, bishop of the 16th Ward, 
concerned for members of his ward, visited every dwelling to ascertain the amount of provisions on hand. He 
recorded visiting "521 souls" in 132 houses. Frederick Kesler (1816-1899) was a prominent millwright whose

11 A ward (or congregation) is the smallest ecclesiastical unit of the LDS church.
12Daughters of Utah Pioneers, Tales of a Triumphant People: A History of Salt Lake County, Utah, 1847-1900, (Compiled and published
by the Daughters of Utah Pioneers of Salt Lake County, Salt Lake City, Utah: Stevens & Wallis Press, 1947), 50 & 66.
13 !bid.,51.
14 No log structures and only a handful of adobe houses were identified in the 1991 reconnaissance-level survey of the district, however
many exist incorporated in later additions and alterations. Sanborn map coverage of the area begins (partially) in 1889 and by that time
many of the early pioneer homes had already been demolished or altered.
^National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form: Whipple, Nelson Wheeler, House, prepared by John S. H. Smith, 1978, copy
available at the Utah State Historic Preservation Office.
16Charles Brooks Anderson, The Growth Pattern of Salt Lake City, Utah, and Its Determining Factors, (PhD dissertation, New York
University, 1945), 57.
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engineering skills and inventiveness contributed much to the early economy of Utah. Kesler was bishop of the 
16 Ward for forty-three years, and died at his home at 556 West North Temple (now demolished). 17

Salt Lake City grew quickly in the two decades between 1847 and 1869, and has been described by many 
historians as an "instant city."18 The population increase was steady, supported by the annual influx of 
Mormon convert immigrants, mostly from England and Scandinavia, and the characteristically high Mormon 
birthrate. While the arid soil and necessity of irrigation systems made crop production difficult, the cash crop of 
gold dust left in Salt Lake City by "forty-niners" traveling to and from California gave rise to a thriving mercantile 
district in the center of town. The overall economy benefited by this traffic, and early Utah settlers gradually 
became more prosperous. The city was incorporated in 1851 with many lines of the original charter devoted to 
regulating burgeoning commerce. On the west side, just as on the east side, families built new homes or 
enlarged older ones, often relegating former log cabins to outbuilding status. By the late 1860s, Salt Lake had 
several brickyards, and though small adobe houses were built up until the 1880s, brick became the most 
sought-after building material. The houses were surrounded by shade trees usually lindens and poplars. The 
settlers dug irrigation ditches and built fences around their lots, planted gardens and small orchards, and 
raised whatever livestock was necessary for family subsistence. Most heads of households were merchants, 
mechanics, or artisans.

Victorian Urbanization and the Coming of the Railroad. 1870-1910

Historians generally agree that the completion of the transcontinental railroad on May 10, 1869, is a 
benchmark in Utah's history: the official end of the pioneer era in Utah. In January of 1870, the Mormon 
church-sponsored Utah Central Railroad completed a line connecting Salt Lake City to the Union Pacific line at 
Ogden. In 1872, Union Pacific acquired control of the Utah Central, as well as interests in another Mormon 
railroad, the Utah Southern, which ran south from Salt Lake to Provo. 19 The 400 West corridor provided the 
best grade and location for the tracks, and within a few years a warehouse district had developed next to the 
city's central business district. The coming of the railroad had a direct effect on the neighborhoods west of the 
track for even one track created a barrier to east-west movement. By the time of the 1889 Sanborn map, the 
Utah Central-Union Pacific Railroad had laid six lines of track near 500 West, and the Denver & Rio Grande 
Railway, which had completed its Salt Lake to Denver line in 1883, had a track running north to south along 
700 West. The 1898 Sanborn map shows that in the decade before the turn of the century, the Oregon Short 
Line Railroad (incorporated by Union Pacific/Utah Northern Railway) had laid seventeen sets of track (through 
lines and sidings) separating the west side of town from the east at 500 West and North Temple.

The impact of railroad on the settlers was mixed. Many early residents simply left. Samples of title abstract 
records indicate a number of "original occupants" of the Plat C blocks did not maintain their ownership when 
deeds began to be officially recorded by the federal land system in the 1870s. Patty Sessions (1795-1893), 
one of Utah's most prolific midwives, had lived near the corner of North Temple and 500 West since 1850. In

17 Tales, 50-52, & 67.
18 Linda Sillitoe, A History of Salt Lake County, (Salt Lake City: Utah State Historical Society and the Salt Lake County Commission, 
1996), 3.
19 Leonard J. Arrington, Great Basin Kingdom: An Economic History of the Latter-Day Saints, 1830-1900, (Salt Lake City: University of 
Utah Press, reprint 1993), 270-282.
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1870 she sold her property to the Utah Central Railroad and moved to Bountiful, Utah.20 Some early residents 
sold their property to their neighbors, and others sold to land speculators from outside the area.

The relative proximity of the tracks determined development patterns in the decades after the coming of the 
railroad. The area nearest to the tracks, 500 West and 800 West, experienced tentative development and the 
original pioneer lots subdivided and built-up with a random mix of cottages, duplexes, residential courts and 
commercial buildings. In contrast, the land west of 800 West was suburbanized and subdivided in a late 
nineteenth-century real estate frenzy, which peaked in 1888, when the Salt Lake County Surveyor was 
authorized to approve all plats and maps. Between 1888 and 1903, ten subdivisions were platted within the 
northwest district's boundaries. The interest in subdivision development on the west side may have been 
stimulated by the 1889 electrification and subsequent expansion of the city's streetcar system that produced a 
streetcar line on North Temple from the central business district to 1000 West. 21

A look at three subdivisions illustrates the variety of persons involved in developing the area. William Langton 
(1854-1928) and his wife Frances Alma Jones Langton (1859-1941), were longtime residents of the 16th Ward. 
Not only were they involved in the Langton Park Subdivision of 1896, they built a number of duplexes and 
other properties in the neighborhood. According to one tribute, William Langton "did much to promote building 
of homes on the west side of Salt Lake City."22 Dr. Leslie W. Snow (1862-1935) and his wife Ida Daynes Snow 
(1871-1955), who developed the Snow Subdivision in 1903, were Utah natives and members of the LDS 
Church, but never lived on the city's west side. Arvis Scott Chapman (1839-1919), William J. Lynch (1862- 
1931), and Isadore Morris (1844-1906) who platted the Oakwood Subdivision on behalf of the Mount Moriah 
Masonic Lodge in 1903, were entrenched east-siders and non-Mormons to boot.23

While some Salt Lake real estate speculators turned a profit, west side speculation remained just that. Many 
lots in these turn-of-the-century subdivisions were not built upon until the 1950s. The disadvantages of the 
west side were numerous. During high water seasons the neighborhoods were flooded both from the Jordan 
River backing up into the irrigation ditches and the City Creek water flowing from the higher levels of the city. 
In referring to the 1893 typhoid epidemic, the city health commissioner stated, "It is from poor drainage and 
seepage from privy vaults and cesspools, a condition so much facilitated by this low and damp section of the 
city, that presumably, is the cause ... for the preponderance of typhoid fever in that section over that of any 
other in the city."24 By the 1890s, the west side had become the official and unofficial dumping ground of the 
city. Because the crematory, located near Warm Springs, could not process all of the city's "night soil," 
trenches were dug at a site half a mile west of the Jordan River and the sewage coverage with two feet of dirt, 
a practice repeatedly objected to by west side residents. In 1894, the canal running along 900 West had 
become the receptacle for so much stagnant water and filth that it was condemned and filled.

20Noall, Claire, "Mormon Midwives," Utah Historical Quarterly, Vol. 10, no. 1-4 (1942): 84-116.
21 Fawn P. Burt and Herbert Gorbitze, "The First 60 Years of the 29th Ward in Salt Lake City, Ward History, 1902-1962, (N.p.: [1962]),
14. At 1000 West, passengers could board a smaller car, called "the Dinkey," which would take them as far as 1300 West and 500
North. It is estimated this arrangement lasted until 1915.
22J. Cecil Alter, Utah; The Storied Domain, (Chicago: American Historical Society, Inc., 1932), vol. 2, 313.
23 Isadore Morris was a former soldier at Fort Douglas, and stayed in Utah to become one of state's most prominent Jewish citizens.
24 Quoted in Anderson, 105. 
25 Anderson, 108.
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Transportation was another major deterrent to development. Movement over the tracks was discouraged due 
to the danger of fast running trains and the delay of slow and standing ones. The streetcar system that had 
proliferated on the east side was limited to two lines in the west. In addition, street improvements were late in 
coming to the west side. While streets began to be paved, curbs and gutters installed, and sewers placed in 
some sections of the city beginning in the 1890s, parts of the west side were without these improvements until 
the 1920s.26 Water mains and pipes (replacing well water) were laid in 1890s, and City Creek was partially 
channeled underground. The west side eventually received electricity by the turn of the century.

Despite problems, the railroad era brought modest prosperity to the west side. One-third of all historic 
buildings in the district were constructed during this period. Cottages, and a few fancier homes, built with fired 
brick, both as structural material and as a veneer over adobe, appeared all over the district. The Thomas and 
Mary Hepworth House, built in 1877, is a distinctive house that represents an early transition from the pioneer 
era to the Victorian era. Thomas and Mary immigrated to Utah in 1852, and in 1872 purchased a piece of 
property on the west side, where they live for five years while Thomas built up a family meat market. In 1877, 
the house at 725 West 200 North was built of fired brick (Photograph 14). The Hepworth house is the only 
remaining example of a two-story central-passage house with vertical Victorian proportions and Italianate 
ornamentation in Salt Lake City. It was listed on the National Register of Historic Places in April 2000.27

The Victorian Eclectic cottage, most often a cross wing constructed of brick, became ubiquitous in Salt Lake 
City, and a number of beautifully preserved examples can be found in the northwest district. The central block 
with projecting bays was another popular house type in the district. The frame house was also very popular as 
the railroad brought lumber into timber-scarce Salt Lake City. The railroad also had an impact on the 
decorative aspect of domestic architecture. The rather austere classical adobe houses of the pioneer period 
were essentially vernacular buildings meant to mimic the houses the early settlers left behind in the east and 
mid-west. With the coming of the railroad, access to a variety of materials, and the availability of pattern books 
and handbooks, allowed local builders to produce exact replicas of Victorian cottages being built all across the 
United States. Ornamentation such as lathe-turned porch posts, spindle work and sometimes "gingerbread" 
cut woodwork was found on Victorian cottages throughout the district. In addition, many of the older homes 
converted to cross wings and/or "dressed up" with Victorian ornamentation in the 1880s and 1890s.

Multiple-family housing began to appear in the district in the early 1890s. According to one report, in April of 
1888, there was a "scarcity of rentable houses and a great demand for them," particularly four-room cottages 
for small families.28 The most popular type of multiple-family housing was the double house, or duplex. Most 
were brick, some were frame, and the earliest examples resembled Victorian cottages with gable roofs and 
wood ornamentation. The Tuttle Court complex, built by Mary Anne Taylor Tuttle (1832-1924) around 1895, 
has four of the oldest and best-preserved frame examples in the district (Photograph 46). The original owner 
of multiple-family housing was often a builder or businessman who lived near by. The circa 1904 brick duplex 
at 745-747 West Jackson Avenue was built by William H. Jones (7-1935?), a carpenter who lived at 635 West 
400 North; and the circa 1900 brick triplex at 216-218 North 800 West was built by Kay Bridge (1876-1952), a 
plasterer, living at 666 West North Temple.

26 John S. McCormick, The Westside of Salt Lake City, (Salt Lake City: Utah State Historical Society, 1982), 153.
27National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form: Hepworth, Thomas and Mary, House. Prepared by Alan Barnett, 2000. Copy
available at the Utah State Historic Preservation Office. 
28 Anderson, 88.
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Several commercial buildings, mostly one and two part blocks, were constructed during this period. Near the 
tracks was the Solomon Brothers' Shoe Factory and David James' pipe factory (neither building is extant). By 
the late 1890s, North Temple Street had the beginnings of a commercial strip with a cobbler, a blacksmith, a 
bakery and a meat market. One of the oldest surviving buildings was built in 1888, when Arthur Frewin (1855- 
1940) built a general mercantile business at 780 West North Temple (Photograph 53). Four years later he built 
an addition on the back, and in 1895 built a residence for his family adjoining the store. The enterprise 
appears to have been quite prosperous, as is attested by the large typeface of his name in the city directories, 
and the quality of the corbelled brickwork on both buildings. More modest one-part block examples include the 
22nd Ward Co-operative store, which stills stands, though somewhat altered at 580 West 400 North; and the 
frame store/tinshop attached to an adobe hall-parlor at 613 West 200 North (Photograph 52). Two-part block 
examples include 815 West 300 North and 730 West 400 North, both somewhat altered by facade siding.

Economically, the neighborhood was still represented by a solid merchant/artisan middle-class, but many had 
new urban jobs: clerks, bookkeepers, agents, civil servants etc.; however, two major changes in the economy 
occurred during this period: 1) the need for family subsistence farming dropped dramatically, and 2) 
approximately 1 out of every 5 heads of a household worked for a railroad or a railroad-dependant industry at 
least some time in his life. 29 Many had long-term commitments. Willard W. Bywater (1853-1915), a Welsh 
LDS convert, was, for many years, a pattern maker for the Oregon Short Line Railroad. Bywater's neighbor at 
155 North 700 West, Robert Bridge, Jr., (1871-1942), a Salt Lake City native, spent 50 years as a sheet metal 
worker for the Union Pacific.

Just as in the pioneer era, the population growth of the district was steady. When the Jackson Elementary 
School at 750 West 200 North was built in 1892, it was one of the largest schools in Salt Lake City (the building 
was demolished and replaced by a new building in the 1980s). The growth of the Mormon population 
necessitated a split of the original 19th Ward. In 1889, the 22nd Ward was created from the west portion of the 
19th Ward. Two more wards were created from the 22nd in February 1902, when the western half was divided: 
the 28th Ward (railroad tracks to 900 West) and the 29th Ward (900 West to the Jordan River).30 By the end of 
that year, both congregations built Gothic Revival chapels: the 28th Ward at 750 West 400 North (Photograph 
58), and the 29th Ward (just outside the district boundaries) at 1104 West 400 North. The LDS ward 
meetinghouses in the area served as social centers, as well as worship spaces, for the community. In winter, 
when snow and mud made the journey to town unpleasant and treacherous, "plays, operettas, vaudevilles, and 
minstrel shows," often produced by ward members, were scheduled in the meetinghouses.31 Non-Mormon 
social centers were also built. The Methodists had a small church at the corner of 800 West and 400 North, 
the Endeavor Presbyterian Church was located at 630 West 200 North, and there was dance hall on 600 West 
(none extant).

The railroad, as well as the mining and smelting industries it supported, brought thousands of immigrants to 
Utah. Within the LDS community, the immigrant converts established neighborhood enclaves (e.g. "Danish 
Town" was the nickname for a block on Marion Street where a number of Danish immigrants lived, and in the 
100 block along 700 West, a number of Welsh converts built homes). These LDS immigrants assimilated

29 This estimate is based on analysis by the author of occupations listed in the 1880 and 1900 census for the district, including some
sample cross-referencing with the city directories for 1890.
30Part of the 16th Ward was also affected when the boundaries were realigned. Some members of the 22nd Ward were reunited with
friends in the 28th ward after the 22nd meetinghouse was abandoned because it was too close to the railroad tracks.
31 Burt, 13.
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quickly and easily into the Utah's cultural climate, but for other immigrants the process was not so easy. As 
LDS convert immigration (primarily from Scandinavia and the British Isles) declined in the last three decades of 
the 19th century, non-Mormon immigration increased. A small percentage of Chinese, who came with the 
railroad, stayed to make homes in Salt Lake City. The majority of Chinese lived near Salt Lake's Chinatown, 
located near downtown and centered around Plum Alley which ran north from 200 South to 100 South between 
Main and State streets; however, 1898 Sanborn map shows three Chinese vegetable gardens with "shanties" 
in the neighborhood around 700 West and 300 North. Other ethnic enclaves were established near the tracks 
just south and east of the northwest district. Greek Town consisted of more than sixty businesses lining 200 
South between 400 and 500 West streets. A small Italian community, Little Syria and Lebanese Town were 
also near the tracks. Non-Mormons (mostly the ethnically diverse immigrants who came to work in the railroad 
and mining industries) lived in the southern and western portions near downtown while Mormons and the more 
affluent, longtime-resident non-Mormons lived to the north, east, and the southeast. 32 Only a few of the recent 
immigrants lived in the rental duplexes and houses available in the northwest district at this time. However in 
the first half of the twentieth century they would gradually move from the "ethnic ghettos" north to become 
home and business owners in the northwest neighborhoods.

Immigration and Industrialization. 1900-1929

By the turn of the century the Salt Lake City Northwest Historic District, had all the makings of a middle-class 
streetcar subdivision with neighborhoods consisting of attractive homes, gardens, and shade trees, and a few 
prestigious commercial buildings. The Horsley Block, a large commercial building with apartments, designed 
by the prestigious Salt Lake architectural firm, Pope & Burton, was built at 606 West North Temple in 1912 
(Photograph 55). The vacant land at the west end, known as the Deseret Agricultural & Manufacturing Society 
Fairgrounds & Race Track, was officially designated as the site of the Utah State Fair in 1902. The fair 
grounds Gust outside the district boundaries) include a number of architecturally significant structures built in 
the first quarter of the twentieth century and was listed on the National Register of Historic Places in 1981. 
City services improved greatly during this period. After two disastrous floods in 1908 and 1909, during which 
North Temple was navigable only by boat, the drainage and sewage systems of the west side became a 
priority. The North Temple viaduct was completed over the Oregon Short Line tracks in 1912. City streets 
were paved and some curb and gutter installed by 1926.

However, though part of the northwest district remained middle-class, the neighborhoods closest to the railroad 
tracks became increasingly working-class. Economically more diverse, but because the newer immigrant 
populations were subject to prejudice, not ethnically or religiously more diverse. In a 1914 University of Utah 
thesis written on The Housing Problem in Salt Lake City, the author noted, "the landlords prefer Americans to 
Southern Europeans . .. Thus when Italians, Greeks, Japs or Chinese apply for a house and the landlord is 
particular who shall occupy the place, the rent is a little higher than for the ordinary houses in the same locality 
and of the same size."33 Thus for the most part, the majority of residents of the northwest district, including 
renters, were homogeneous to the residents in the last half of the nineteenth century.

32 Sillitoe, 76.
33 Quoted in Philip Notarianni's "Italian Fraternal Organizations in Utah, 1897-1934," Utah Historical Quarterly, vol. 43, no. 2 (Spring 
1975): 172-187. Japanese workers arrived in increasing numbers following the Chinese Exclusionary Act, numbering 2,110 by 1919 
compared to four residents a decade earlier. Many Japanese lived just south of North Temple, but do not appear in the northwest 
district until the end of the historic period.
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The store at 730 West 400 North illustrates the gradual shift in population in the neighborhood. In 1905 Henry 
Walsh (1866-1933), and his wife Ruth May Brown (1870-1936), built a two-story commercial block building with 
a grocery store on the main floor and residential space above (Photograph 54). Apparently the grocery 
business did not provide all of the family's needs for by 1910 Henry was working as a watchman for the 
railroad and Ruth was running the store. In 1916, Joseph Balzarini, an Italian immigrant with a Hungarian wife, 
bought the building and also operated a grocery. Joe Balzarini sold the store to the Caputo family. Rosario 
(1883-1970) and his wife Cristina (1888-1979) Caputo were also Italian immigrants who not only ran a 
successful business for nearly half a century, but also raised eleven children in the upstairs apartment. In 
addition the Caputo store was the neighborhood's ofe facto community center for Italian Catholics, peacefully 
coexisting with the LDS 28th ward house across the street.

Meanwhile, the LDS community continued to thrive. The 28th Ward built an amusement hall addition to the 
chapel in 1914. Another division came when the 34th Ward was created and a neo-classical chapel built in 
1921 at 131 North 900 West (Photograph 59). One of the greatest assets came to the community when the 
John D. Spencer Branch of the Salt Lake City library was built in 1921 at 776 West 200 North (Photograph 9). 
The classically styled building designed by prominent Utah architect Joseph Don Carlos Young was built next 
to the Jackson Elementary school making the block a natural venue for community gatherings.

In the northwest neighborhoods, a subtle physical change was taking place. Numerous bungalows began to 
appear throughout out the district as infill and in tracts on previously subdivided lots, and the semi-rural feel of 
the neighborhood was lost in urban density. Blacksmith shops disappeared, and in 1928, the Earnshaw family 
built an auto garage and service station at 319 North 800 West (Photograph 56). The barns, coops, and other 
outbuildings in the backyards and along the vacated alleys were demolished and replaced with automobile 
garages. The number of homes with garages during this period was only about twenty percent and most 
residents still relied on the streetcar or their own two feet for transportation.

The greatest change to the northwest district was an economic change. The ratio of railroad workers to non- 
railroad workers increased dramatically from the previous decades. In fact, in the 1910 census enumeration 
for the district, the percentage of heads of household who list "railroad" in the type of industry column ranges 
from 25 to 50 percent for some streets. There appears to be a slight decrease in the 1920 census.34 In the 
following sample of housing built during this period, the dominance of railroad-related occupations is illustrated. 
Of the two men who lived in the 1908 flat-roofed brick duplex at 235-237 North 600 West, one worked for an 
electric company and the other worked at the Garfield Smelter. Living in a row of 1909 Victorian cottages near 
1000 West and 400 North, two-thirds of the adult male residents held railroad jobs. A survey of the original 
residents of fourteen Langston Park bungalows (built in 1918) along 900 West, states "the majority of the 
residents worked for the railroad—either the Oregon Short Line or Denver and Rio Grand [sic] as switchmen, 
brakemen, baggage agent, signal man, fireman, or as conductors."35 Three out of four original occupants of 
four period cottages, built in 1928-1929, on the 300 block of Chicago Street worked for the railroads.36

34 Statistics from analysis of 1910 and 1920 census data by author.
35 Tanni Christman, Langton Park Subdivision, TMs, 1993, [1]. Copy available at the Utah State Historic Preservation Office.
36 C"Salt Lake City Polk directories, 1910-1930.



OMB No. 1024-0018, NPS Form

United States Department of the Interior 
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places 
Continuation Sheet
Section No. 8 Page 9 Salt Lake City Northwest Historic District, Salt Lake City, Salt Lake County, UT 

Depression Years and the World War II Era

With the notable exception of the 16th Ward's new colonial-revival style chapel and amusement hall built at 129 
North 600 West in 1930, there is little evidence of construction activity in the northwest district during the few 
years after the start of the Depression (Photograph 10). By 1935 more than one in five Salt Lake residents 
were on relief, and one in three of the rest lived below the poverty level. The residents of the district, like their 
counterparts throughout the nation, survived as best they could. Many people in the northwest district lost their 
jobs or were on reduced salaries. The Works Progress Administration (WPA) and the construction-related 
Public Works Administration (PWA) programs may have provided jobs for a few. The few possibilities for such 
work in the area were street and sewage improvements, projects at the fair grounds, and the municipal 
airport.37 The LDS Church's Welfare Plan, established in 1936, helped provide food and employment through 
the several LDS wards in the neighborhood. Many residents worked odd jobs, started cottage industries, 
planted gardens in those oversized city lots, and sent their children to gather stray chunks of coal dropped by 
passing trains. During this period, many of the residential courts and private streets, which had never been 
under city oversight, fell into squalor and disrepair.

In the early 1940s, just as the nation was beginning to rebound economically, some new housing was built in 
the northwest district. Most are scattered individual homes, but one large tract of nine houses built in 1941 on 
the 800 block of 500 North is noteworthy (Photograph 39). The small, square, brick and frame houses were 
based on "minimal traditional" designs produced by the Federal Housing Administration (FHA) during the 
depression to encourage home ownership. Not surprisingly, the majority of original owners of these cottages 
had railroad-related jobs.38 One of the casualties of the depression was the streetcar system. In 1941 the last 
trolley took a final ceremonial run down the streets of the Salt Lake City. A shortage of gasoline put electric- 
run trolleys back into service for a brief period during World War II, but by 1945 the trolleys were once again 
forced to retire. Jobs returned to the west side as the advent of war kick-started railroad, smelting, and other 
important wartime industries.

Post-War Suburban Expansion and Post-Freeway Isolation. 1945-1950s

At the end of World War II, post-war housing was at a premium. In January of 1946, the FHA estimated that 
Salt Lake faced a shortage of six thousand housing units. In the northwest district, builders responded by 
filling up nearly every vacant lot with World War II era cottages and early ranch-type houses, especially in the 
western portion of the district away from the railroads. In contrast, the eastern edge saw little residential 
construction beyond the twin six-unit apartment blocks (built 1947) near Turtle Court, and the small-scale 
industries along the railroad expanded. To the south, North Temple began to take shape as a commercial and 
transportation corridor with new motels, restaurants, service stations, and a supermarket taking the place of 
many nineteenth-century homes and businesses. And, north of 600 North (just outside the district boundaries), 
in 1946, construction began on the ambitious Rose Park subdivision, where many of the northwest district's 
residents would eventually relocate.

37 Sillitoe, 179, 186.
38 Salt Lake City Polk directory, 1943.
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The end of World War II also saw a change in the economics of the Salt Lake Valley. The era of railroad 
dominance began to decline as the trucking industry, which had been growing steadily since the 1920s, out­ 
paced the railroads in freight transport. A decade after construction, only two workers living in the 1941 
houses on 500 North still had railroad jobs. Another change had occurred and the same street, which had 
been fairly homogeneous in 1941, now had neighbors with names like Hatanaka, Hoopiiania, and Gonzales.39

One of the pivotal movements for the northwest district came in 1947 when the Our Lady of Guadalupe Parish, 
an offshoot of the St. Patrick's Catholic Parish, bought property at the corner of 300 North and 700 West. A 
surplus army chapel from Camp Kearns was purchased and relocated to 715 West and 300 North (Photograph 
61). Mexican and Mexican-American families moved to the area, many to take the remaining railroad jobs. As 
the Spanish-speaking population grew, so did the Guadalupe Parish's auxiliary organizations to support them. 
The neighborhood LDS churches also changed during this period. As the population of the Rose Park area 
grew, the LDS Church changed boundaries and most of the northwest district was included in the newly 
formed East Riverside Stake.40 In 1952-1953, a large conference hall for the new stake congregation was built 
at 947 West 200 North (Photograph 60).

Physically, the biggest change to the district during this time appeared in the mid-1950s. The Denver and Rio 
Grande line down 700 West was pulled up to make way for Interstate 15. With the completion of the freeway 
in 1956, the west side neighborhoods were even further isolated from the rest of the city. The construction of 
the freeway destroyed whole neighborhoods between 600 and 700 West, and the value of the remaining 
homes was greatly reduced. One man living on 700 West, complained to the county tax assessor in a letter 
that he "couldn't get an offer at any price" on his house.41 The only place within the district to cross the 
freeway was located at a 300 North underpass.

Salt Lake City's West Side: 1960s-2000

The history of the Salt Lake City Northwest Historic District in the last half of the twentieth century is an 
interplay of economic change, cultural diversification and neighborhood solidarity. The district has remained 
solidly working class. A number of medium-density apartment complexes were built in the area in the 1970s 
and 1980s. The institutional buildings have changed. The old Jackson school was torn down and replaced 
with a more modern one. The Spencer library closed its doors in 1964, when a new Rose Park branch was 
opened. The library served for a time as a Rape Crisis Center, and is currently owned by the Free Church of 
Tonga in America. First Step House, a counseling and transitional housing center, acquired the LDS 28th 
Ward building. Nearly all the historic buildings along North Temple disappeared, replaced by strip malls, fast 
food restaurants, etc. The remaining commercial buildings scattered throughout the district have changed 
uses: the Caputo store is an artist's studio, and the old Haslam store on 600 West is a boxing club. The 
Horsley building now serves as the American Plasma Center.

The district has a high reputation for community services. The Capitol West Boys' and Girls' Club is located in 
the district. The Guadalupe parish established a stronghold in the district, and in 1972, built a large new

39 Salt Lake City Polk directory, 1953.
40 A stake is a unit of the LDS consisting of several wards.
41 Letter to Salt Lake County Tax Assessor's Office, June 18, 1957. Available with tax cards for 469 North 700 West, Salt Lake County 
Archives.
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chapel next to the old one on 300 North (the old barracks chapel is extant, but not recognizable, see 
Photograph 61). Around the same time the parish purchased the old 16th Ward meetinghouse when it was no 
longer needed by the LDS Church, and established the Guadalupe Center, an educational community center 
known as La Hacienda, which served the area for many years. The neighborhood has attracted other 
religious, ethnic and cultural communities. The 29th Ward Gust outside the boundaries of the district) was 
converted to the Hope Refugee Friendship Center. Chiefly serving Vietnamese, the center offered aid to 
Laotian, Hmong, and Cambodian refugees. Vietnamese immigrants built a Buddhist Temple at 469 North 700 
West. Today the neighborhood is one of the most ethically diverse in Salt Lake City.

Despite diversity, the neighborhood has strong communal ties. The Guadalupe, LDS and numerous newer 
churches in the area provide a sense of community. This year in May, the Fairpark Fiesta, a neighborhood 
carnival was held near Jackson Elementary, hopefully to become an annual event. Preparations for the Utah 
State Fair unite the western neighborhoods every September. In the most recent decade, new construction of 
single-family dwellings has been encouraged in the district, and there appears to be an upswing in home 
ownership versus rentals in the area. Perhaps the strongest indication of stability in the district is in the range 
of residents. From the direct descendants of early Utah pioneers to non-English speaking immigrants of only a 
few years, most are happy to call this Salt Lake neighborhood home.
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Common Label Information:

1. Salt Lake City Northwest Historic District
2. Salt Lake City, Salt Lake County, Utah
3. Photographer: Korral Broschinsky
4. Date: April - October 2000
5. Negative on file at Utah SHPO.

6. Photograph No. 1
Commercial building at 509 West 300 North near the railroad tracks at 500 West. Camera facing 
southeast.

6. Photograph No. 2
Contributing properties between 700 West & 800 West on North Temple. Camera facing northwest.

6. Photograph No. 3
Non-contributing commercial properties on North Temple between 900 and 1000 West. Camera facing 
northeast.

6. Photograph No. 4
Utah State Fairpark entrance on 1000 West. Camera facing southwest.

6. Photograph No. 5
Landscaped street dividers on 800 West near Jackson Elementary School. Camera facing southwest.

6. Photograph No. 6
Langton Park Subdivision California-style bungalows, built circa 1918, located on 900 West near 300 
North. Camera facing north.

6. Photograph No. 7
A mix of housing types along 200 North at approximately 950 West. Camera facing northwest.

6. Photograph No. 8
Grocery and residence at 246 North 600 West, built circa 1905. Camera facing east.

6. Photograph No. 9
Left: historic Spencer Branch Library at 776 West 200 North, built in 1921. Right: new Jackson 
Elementary School. Camera facing north.

6. Photograph No. 10
Historic LDS Church, 16th Ward Chapel at 129 North 600 West, built in 1930. Camera facing west.

6. Photograph No. 11
House at 647 West 400 North nestled against the new lnterstate-15 mound. Camera facing west.
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6. Photograph No. 12
Historic wrought iron fence located near 544 West 400 North, circa 1899. Camera facing north.

6. Photograph No. 13
National Register listed Whipple House at 564 West 400 North. Camera facing northwest. Whipple 
House on left.

6. Photograph No. 14
National Register listed Hepworth House at 725 West 200 North, built in 1877. Camera facing south.

6. Photograph No. 15
Adobe hall-parlor at 126 North 800 West. Camera facing northeast.

6. Photograph No. 16
Left: Unusual pioneer-era house at 423 North 600 West, built in 1868 with circa 1900 additions. Right: 
Non-contributing remodeled Victorian house. Camera facing west.

6. Photograph No. 17
Victorian houses at 153 and 159 North 900 West, built circa 1900. Camera facing northwest.

6. Photograph No. 18
Victorian tract houses at 1014, 1018, 1022 & 1026 West 400 North, built in 1909. Camera facing 
northeast.

6. Photograph No. 19
Modest brick homes in Laxon Court, built between 1907 & 1909. 
Camera facing southwest.

6. Photograph No. 20
Victorian houses along 700 West. Left: 161 North 700 West, converted hall-parlor to cross wing, built 
circa 1884. Center: 167 North 700 West, Queen Anne central block with projecting bays, built circa 
1901. Right: 169 North 700 West, two-story central block with projecting bays, built circa 1893. 
Camera facing west.

6. Photograph No. 21
Transitional house at 344-346 North 600 West, built in phases between 1882 and 1954. 
Camera facing east.

6. Photograph No. 22
Cross wing at 543 North Marion Street, built circa 1890. Camera facing west.

6. Photograph No. 23
A rare double cross wing located at 815 West 200 North, built circa 1888. Camera facing south.
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a Photograph No. 24
Brick central block with projecting bays at 249 North 600 West, built circa 1897, note brick detail. 
Camera facing west.

6. Photograph No. 25
Hybrid small house type at 849 West Ouray Avenue, built in 1906. Camera facing south.

6. Photograph No. 26
Two shotgun houses (358 & 360 North 900 West), built circa 1887. Camera facing east.

6. Photograph No. 27
Frame Victorian house at 341 North Marion Street, built in 1901 Camera facing west.

6. Photograph No. 28
Left to right: 803 West Simondi Avenue (1901); 805 West Simondi Avenue, frame & stucco bungalow 
(1924), 807 West Simondi Avenue (circa 1900). Camera facing southeast.

6. Photograph No. 29
Early bungalow at 578 North Dexter Street, built circa 1908. Camera facing northwest.

6. Photograph No. 30
Left: 575 West 200 North, brick bungalow built in 1924. Right: 577-579 West 200 North, brick 
bungalow duplex built in 1921. Camera facing southeast.

6. Photograph No. 31
Prairie bungalows built circa 1919 at 247 North and 251 North 700 West. Camera facing west.

6. Photograph No. 32
Brick bungalow with porte-cochere at 1043 West 500 North, built in 1924. Camera facing southwest.

6. Photograph No. 33
Brick bungalows on 500 North, built circa 1924. Camera facing south.

6. Photograph No. 34
Concrete block bungalow at 137 North 900 West, built circa 1915. Camera facing southeast.

6. Photograph No. 35
Volcanic rock veneer and brick bungalow at 537 North 1000 West, built in 1921. Camera facing west.

6. Photograph No. 36
Bungalows along 1000 West near 400 North, built in 1926. Camera facing northwest.

6. Photograph No. 37
Period cottage at 878 West 500 North, built in 1929. Camera facing north.
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6. Photograph No. 38
Four period cottages between 360 North & 374 North Chicago Street, built in 1928-1929. Camera 
facing northeast.

6. Photograph No. 39
World War II Era Minimal Traditional Cottages, built in 1941. 863 West 500 North on right. Camera 
facing southwest.

6. Photograph No. 40
460 North Chicago, built in 1941. Camera facing east.

6. Photograph No. 41
World War II Era Cottages, built circa 1946, along 1100 West. Camera facing northeast.

6. Photograph No. 42
Cape Cod house at 569 North 1000 West, built in 1947. Camera facing east.

6. Photograph No. 43
1062 & 1070 West 500 North, brick veneer over cinder block early ranch houses, built circa 1950. 
Camera facing north.

6. Photograph No. 44
Brick duplex at 235-237 North 600 West, built in 1908. Camera facing west.

6. Photograph No. 45
Right: Brick duplex, built circa 1900. Left: Nouveau bungalow, built circa 1995. Camera facing west.

6. Photograph No. 46
Tuttle Court duplex, built circa 1898, in center. Camera facing east.

6. Photograph No. 47
Langdon Park bungalow triplex at 375-379 North 900 West, built circa 1918. Camera facing west.

6. Photograph No. 48
World War II Era asbestos-sided duplex at 1004 West 500 North (also 505 North 1000 West), built circa 
1946. Camera facing north.

6. Photograph No. 49
World War II Era brick duplex at 407 North 900 West (also 906 West 400 North), built circa 1950. 
Camera facing northwest.

6. Photograph No. 50
Apartment block at 540 North 600 West, built in 1897. Camera facing southwest.
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_ photograph No. 51
Boyer Apartments, built in 1947, with Tuttle Court in center. Camera facing south.

6. Photograph No. 52
Adobe house (1877) and frame shop (1910) at 613 West 200 North). Camera facing south.

6. Photograph No. 53
Brick store (1888) and residence (1895) located at 776-780 North Temple. Camera facing north.

6. Photograph No. 54
Brick store and residence at 730 West 400 North. Camera facing northeast.

6. Photograph No. 55
Horsley Building at 606 West North Temple, built in 1912. Camera facing northwest.

6. Photograph No. 56
Auto garages at 319 North 800 West, built circa 1928. Camera facing northwest.

6. Photograph No. 57
Motel court at 754 West North Temple, built circa 1945. Camera facing north.

6. Photograph No. 58
LDS 28th Ward Meetinghouse at 750 West 400 North, built in 1902 and enlarged in 1914. Camera 
facing northeast.

6. Photograph No. 59
LDS 34th Ward Meetinghouse at 131 North 900 West, built in 1921. Camera facing west.

6. Photograph No. 60
LDS Riverside Stake Center at 947 West 200 North, built in 1952-1953. Camera facing south.

6. Photograph No. 61
Our Lady of Guadalupe Church at 715 West 300 North. Original WW II army base chapel moved from 
Kearns, Utah to present site in 1947, now incorporated in a 1972 concrete block structure. Camera 
facing south.

6. Photograph No. 62
Outbuilding at 165 North 900 West. Camera facing west.

6. Photograph No. 63
Bungalow with contributing garage at 1055 West 400 North, built in 1913. Camera facing south.

6. Photograph No. 64
____Neo-Victorian two-story houses under construction in May 2000. Camera facing southwest.______


